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Mr. Dibbhen Jjoined the Army :&cur‘ity ‘Agency as an ﬂmy.

Cﬂ?flﬁﬁw,
R

Infantry reserve offlce~ during tha Korean War, in ?@51 . he

.

later returned as a cj»flinn and as a prof&ssimnur' .

matbamatician,-warkad on various crypt prablumn on tha'thtn

:analytical element of the Agency. B’e later 'becama

'l

assoclated with a number of Sovist prohlama and spe@t the bulk

of his career ln predacassor Qlumintal . ind his last

fau years as deputv and chief :ﬁw. Dibben fl'iii‘l briefly
diacuss his recolliactions of Black Friday, whmh'/‘wai the day the
Soviets changed all their eryptographic ayatms;;' the Berlin
Tunnel operation, and the intercept sites ttr"t"!:td against the
Soviet miaaile activivy. '

Mr. Robert A, Highbarger is alsc partllé:'ipatms in this
interview. '

Interview is taking place in the Eof‘fi{:a, Operations
Building, National Security Agency, Fort Meade. Interviewer:
Bob Farley.

Mr. Dibben deaires that the classification of thia single

casgette be Top Seoret Uodeword. This ia NSA Oral History

Interviow Number 73-8%,

redd and Aporoved [or Relsase Dy NSA on C6-0%9-0005 pursuant Lo FoO. 13526, MDK Caswe 504070




FARLEY: Tell you what I°'d like to do is run through a qulck and
dirty on your personal background, experience and then we'll
devote a lot of time to the Black Friday and the loss of Soviet
comms, and maybe to EGGSHELL and TACKSMAN, the Berlin Tunnel and
anythling elae. Thia is primari.y for the hiatory that’s beling
prepared by the [ National Cryptologicl School as well as the
historical smection. Sort of a handout to the people who come
in, and also an educational primer for the people mho are fairly
young in the business, who don™t know what we contributed, what
NSA, what AFSA, what AYA, did for the country. 30, if you mould
Juet atart off.

First of all. we can talk at any level vou likes 1f you
want to go TE, if you want to go VRK, your deciaion.
DIBBEN: [°'d prafer to stay at Cat 11l, if I can.
FARLEY: All right, if you’éan. Now, we’'re protected. 1°11
give you a form, which is an accessibllity form. You can decide
who can hear the tapes, who can ase the transcripts. Your
decigion. Are vou still on ocath or not? Are you-~you're a
consultant?
DIBBEN: I°'m not & consultant, but I°ve never been debriefed.
FARLEY: Good, so there's no problem.
DIBBEN: No problem with that., | atill have all the clearances,

as many clearances ag 1 had when I sat in this chalr,
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FARLEY: Beautiful. Okay, Phil, if you Jjust give me, as ! said,
2 quick and dirty, late teen-asge life, before college, or before
military service, and then we'll plck it up from there.

DIBBEN: Okay. 7o begin with, I'm a high-school dropout. My
Jobs before the army were driving a2 dump truck on highway
construction, driving over-the-road tractor-trailer. ! had lied
about my age and passed a commercial driving test. And then at
seventeen, 1 stsrted working for a small company in Ohio, Morse
Instrument Company, and loved the work. 1 smorked in
exparimental machine shop, and within a vear and & half ] was a
qualified Clase B machinist. Lloved it. From there I went into
the army.

FARLEY: Was this about Pearl Harbor, & little before Pearl
Harbor?

DIBBEN: It was after Pearl Harborj 1942. Hent into the army
and was in the Infantry. One event that happened to me in the
army that Art levensor-~l send him up the wall every time ] tell
him about it3 I keep reminding him about it-«was that during the
Ruhr Pocket | waz--because of the Remagen Bridge. We ware able
to surround a conplete German Army corpa, get them surrounded.
There were three approximately thousand-man patrols sent into
the inside of thlils pocket, simply to destroy compunications.

And that was our order. Destroyv material and communications,

FARLEY: What a hearthbreak.
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DIBBEN: The small group that | was with, about forty men,
walked into a corps hemdquarters while the generals were having
lunch, captured them, and I personally {chucklesl took an axe to
an ENIGMA machine. But I1'11 guarantee you that there's no
infantryman in the worid that’s going to carry an ENIGMA machine
in one hand and 3 rifle in the other.

FARLEY: Nobody wag briefed to look for something like this,
communications sites--

DIBBEN: We were told to destroy communications. We were told
to deatroy~-1 knewu--you know, 1 had seen the M«209 that was used
in U.S. front communications. | knew it was a8 cipher machine.
Our instructlions were to destroy it. Every man had

wirecutters., We aust have cut the same telephone lines
thousands of times.

FARLEY: I can ssa destroying telephone wire, but not
aquipment--

DIBBEN: Those were our instructions, but 1'11 guarantee you
there’s not an infantryman alive that would carry a clpher
machine in one hand and a rifle in the other. He's just not
goling to do it. Anvhow, 1 send Levenson up the wall every time
I tell him that =2tory.

FARLEY: Because he was sent with that TICOM team after the war
to collect that material. No wonder he couldn't collect it.

These guys had destroyed it all.
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fLaughter]

DIBBEN: Those were our instructions. Incidentally, the very
concept of destroying their communicstions-~they could never
organize to flght thelr way ocut. 1t*s a superd canéapt. They
could never orgsnlize to fight their way ocut. And we were
outnumbered at least & hundred-to-one, and we were able to
contain them. So lt's a very good concept from an army tactical
standpoint.

FARLEY: Phill, tiis wus pretty close to the end of the war,
wasn't it?

DIBBEN: VYas, petting on toward the end. As a matter of fact,
while I was in that Ruhr Pocket, Roosevelt died. And he was
buried before wée even knew he was dead.

FARLEY: April 1945 then.

DIBBEN: Yeah. 't was very clouss to the end of the war.
Anyhow, that's & war story I love to tell Levenson.

FARLEY: 1 intervlewecd Art Levenson, and he said there was no
equipnment left.

DIBBEN: (Laught«rl Now at least yvou know part of the reason
why.

FARLEY: Phil, you got out of the service in the middle of "457
DIBBEN: Late 4%, ancd I had istended to go back to Morse
Instrument Company. | had job rehire righta. When I went back.
John Morsge, the sresicdent of the company, and owner of the

TOPSECRET UMBRA-SENSITHVEAL MBS
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company-~and by zhen 1t was about %500 emplovees. When 1 was
there, it was about 78; it was about 500 by then. He sent all
returning servicemen up to a vacatlion spot he had on Kelly's
Island, Lake Eris. He rented the place, he had a couple there,
and you went up and you fished and vou huntedi you did anything
you wanted to for two weeks, and were fed superbly. He said,
"Come on back ard we'll talk about your new job.™ What he did
uag of ferad me-~~Nis plan for me was to sgsend me to Warner Swayze
in Cleveland for six months, learn their nesm turret lathe and
amall screw machine ard then [ was going to be the setup man for
a string of half a dozen of them for the company. My firat
reaction was to e thrilled, because as a 21-year old that was a
great thing, anc my azlary would have been on the aédah of five
thousand a year, which in 1946 was 3 good salary. And then 1
looked around the company, and I saw that evervone in a level in
the company higher thsan that wazs a ¢ollege graduate. | started
looking in the mirror and aald., "Phil, old boy, you've topped
out at twenty-on:." fo 1 wmalked in on Monday morning and quit,
Said: "I°'m golng to go to college--somehow.”™ So 1 did.

FARLEY: Okay. bWhere did you go to college, Phil?

DIBBEN: North Texas State and Univeraity of North Carolina,
FARLEY: And vou studied to be an engineer?

DIBBEN: Mathematicas.

FARLEY: And frois there you came to . . .
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DIBBEN: I came here. While ! was there, while I was in
college, | met and married my wife, Alice. Largely because of
finances, I joined a reserve urit. I had not stayed in the
reserves following Horld War II. 1 came out as a five-striper,
a tech sergeant. I jcined a reserve unit largely for financlal
reasons. When the Korean conflict came along, they pulled me
out of graduate school to bring me herws, becsuse of the reserve,
and that's how I got to what was then AFSA,

FARLEY: I'm missing something. Dut of college you Jjoined ASA~-~
DIBBEN: WNo, in college, I joired--

FARLEY: ASA rescrve?

DIBBEN: VYas.

FARLEY: Okay., st when did you actually Join ASA, physically
employed?

DIBBEN: February °B1.

FARLEY: That late?

DIBBEN: Um-hmm, That late, February °'51, that’s when 1 came
to the Agency.

FARLEY: All right, let me run through. When you came aboard,
you were a lieutenant?

DIBBEN: Yes.

FARLEY: A seconc llevtenant.

DIBBEN: Yeah.
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FARLEY: What scort of an orientation did you receive at
Arlington Hall?

DIBBEN: Almost rnothing, and tre reason was Frank Raven was at
the time, was involved with hiring their Jjunior mathematician
program, and 1 think Eosb was a member of that.

HIGHBARGER: Yes.

DIBBEN: Frank decided that he wanted some kind of control, and
since 1 had walked in unannounced at about the right time, with
the right background, he declided that I would be one of two
people they would sort of throx to the wolves, in a sense. Just
put them to wmork. No srientation whatscever. Had none. Zero.
Houever, it was~-to me it was zn advantage. 1 worked as~-sort
of personally at Frank Lewis® elbow, at Polly Budenbach's elbow
and at Frank Raven's elbow, as sort of thelr assistant. In a
vary short time ! had a lot of good training, on the job. No
formal tralining whatscever.

FARLEY: Were vou aware of the overall mission of the ASA at
that time?

DIBBEN: Only by osmosis.

FARLEY: I see. Was the Russiasn problem compartmented by then?
DIBBEN: Yeaa, ok yes. Very definitely compartmentad by then.
FARLEY: So you were trained as a cryppie?

DIBBEM: VYes. || started on manual systems, but what-~Frank's

idea was, he wanted tc see how I would do relative to those that
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came in and had all the special training. The second peraon
involved, incidentally, was Ignatius Mattingly, who has since
left the Agency, but who was a good perscnal friend and a very
bright guy.

FARLEY: Did (wesk] come in about the same time as Bob did? 1
know there were about four or five other whiz kids--we called
them that--who came in at the same time.

DIBBEN: Actually there are several others that are assocliated
with the junior math program that were not part of it. Jim
Bates is one, ani Hed Newberg iz snother.

HICHBARGER: Petur Jenksa?

DIBBEN: Pster Janks was another.

FARLEY: Were al! of them given commissions, or were some of
them retalned as civilianas?

DIBBEN: Peter cume as &8 civilian., Jim Bates never got a
commission: he wus enllisted, in the Navy. . . .

FARLEY: Phil, when you came in, it was AFSA, and the Korean War
was on. Did they threaten to send you to Korea at all, or were
you 80 new in the game that it wouldn't be falr to you?

DIBBEN: No. Incidentally, 1 was an Infantry officer.

FARLEY: Rot Signal Corps.

DIBBEN: Not Signal Corps, [ was an Infantry offlcer, because
that was my Army experience. Ko, there was no threat to aend me

to anything but here. They wanted me here because by then [ had
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a master’s degres in mathematics. When 1 was redalled, ﬁ just
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“ent ahead and gt the master’'s degree.’ %y,{ngéﬁtion ha& been .
. e / ':' .: '

to go for s PhD. e '/' §d
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”
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FARLEY: Phil., d4° you r«mamﬁar the n@mé aaniaﬁiar and thber of
the organization tpxahlch you were asaignéd? f{

DIBBEN: I QQN‘& remember the first oneg Itfbecame[::::]:

[::::::::]shartly after I paﬁa. It had somé other number. before
that, - Lo ; :

HIGHBARGER: 1 r@mambé? it waz[:::]%rmm Qé&jmiadla of '51;
DIBBEN: Yeah, b;xt"uhen I first‘,c:;me, ltl"'hta'ld ancther mixec:':!
1etter-numbe§;'/hnd I have fnﬁéétton wh;tfghat is, but itéseoné
FARLEY: And that was mith%ﬁlth& ana%&tlﬁal, the major ;

analytical unit? S B : -

DIBBEN: VYe&s . . .[

HIGHBARGER?

That *a the{énly designators it's ever had,

thogse four. . . “/Juﬂe of *51, :
DIBREN: There u;s one before ﬁ%, but it was only for the Fir?t
month or six péekz I nas heve;land I have forgotten what it n%a.
FARLEY: Ymu/r@mcmbar the chgef?

DIBBEN: OF sure. Franx Raven. He went all the way through |

1¢
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HIGHBARGER: Wher the first set up

. Qﬁiﬁ'&h%ﬁtan was the

chief and Lutwirlak wyguhia'ﬂéﬁﬁty. That lasted a very short

|

FARLEY: What tagrget country 2id you filrst uork on?

period qf_bimb’géd, as we sald, Dale went to sea and | came to

DIBBEN: 1 first worked on the European satellite countries,
mainly Bulgaria snd Rcmania and Albania. That was considered a
European sateii!%erat the time,

FARLEY: Were their syastems pretbty difficult, or were thay basic
addititive or machine or--what type syastems dide-

DIBBEN: No machine; they were all manual systems. Largely

hecause of Soviet Influence,; all their major systems were one-

time-pad,

FARLEY: 1 don't think we need to get into any more detail on
thaaaraystema. ¥hil, when did you work your way into the Soviet
problem?

DIBBREN: Firat ¢ all, | left for a year. HWhen ! got out of the
Army, I got out at an odd time., not one that fit the academic

TOP SECRET UMBRASENSITIVEALIMDES-
i

EO 3.3b(3)
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year. Levenson talked me into just staying on. You know,
"Well, if you stay on, you can go back tc aschool if you want
to.” So I did trhat. I didn't bave anything else to doj I had
somecns €to suppcrt. Hut | did want to go back teo college. This
had interrupted »hat ] considered my new career-to-bej that isa,
an academic caresr. ind while I thoroughly enjoyed it here, |
wasn't certain that this was what 1 wanted to do for a career.

] went back to the Universlty of North Caroclina on a scholarship
that paid my tul+tion and gave re a stipend of about $1800 a year
for graduate schrol.

FARLEY: VYou couidn't have picked it up on the GI Bill here?
DIBREN: I had used most of my G Bill by then. So this was
very nice. But sfter a vear | simply was bored. I misased this
place. 1 mizsad the fun of it, the exclitement, proving the
theorem did not nave the excitement of solving the system. It
simply did not. | was particularly bored one night, and |
called Levenson and sald, "Can I have a Job back?” He sald,
"Sure, come an back.”™

FARLEY: GCreat. And irom that point, you worked into the~--
DIBBEN: For practical purposes--well, with tiuo exceptions-~1]
never left the Soviet clipher problem, nelither manual or

machine. Those two eceptions--in my early period, working with

Polly Budenbach uand with Frank, ! did work on what are now some

[Jproblema. Ari 1 spent a year as DﬁputyDand then I aspent

PL 86-31,/50 USC 3605 -t =
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early work even though I didn’t do it. ! only read about it and
tried to analyve it and study it, what changes they made and try
to declde why.

FARLEY: Phil, when you lectured out at the [National
Cryptologicl School in *83, vou talked about the Black Friday
incident. Rather thar having ne azk specific questions on this,
maybe you'd Just like to talk about what you remember, or what
you know, or what you learned, about the Black Friday incident.
DIBBEN: Okay, nouw, | worked on systems that followed Black
Friday, both machine snd manusl avstems. S0 it was more than
Just history thsat took me back to Black Friday, and tried to
analyze what had happened. Most of that was done by--oh,
incidentally, & lot of it was done by people that you can still
interview, a lot of the actual work, and they were here working
at the tima of Black Friday. Certainly Cecil Phillipa i3 one.
Or Juanita Moody 1a another gtlill avallable to be interviewed.
FARLEY: ([Too weuk]

DIBBEN: Don't knows 1 know those two did.

FARLEY: Ted Leahy?

DIBBEN: Ted Leahy might have. Tim Holeroft might have. Art
Levenson might huve.

FARLEY: PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

DIBBEN: 411 those were around during that period,

working. George Vergine ls another.
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HIGHBARGER: Frark Lewis? Prcbably not . . . he might’ve.
DIBBEN: He could have, but Frank's not in--all the rest of them
are in the area. Frark-=~

FARLEY: [°ve interviewed Frank already. 1°'11 have to look over
my lnterview and see whether he mentioned anvthing. I1f he did,
he glossed over ‘he term Black Friday. He just mentioned the
change in the Scvlet communications. It may be in there.
DIBBEN: At this point, of course, it has to be memory, what
learned, and alsc what I worked on. From 1945, when the United
States government started a real attack againat Soviet systems,
because they didr't have a large attack during the war, but when
it started a fairly sizeable attack against Soviet ayvetems,
there was falr success against their major systems. Compared to
the size of effcrts today, the size of the effort then, it was s
nice succeas. Then. on one day, every system that we had had
any success on, snd were producing decrypts on, went off the
air«~=never to be seen again. And every sysatem that we h;d been
unable to make 53 dent in stayed on the air. [t is no doubt that
very speciflc irniormation got to the Soviets. One thing that 1
had to gatisfy mvgelf on, my oun mind on, was how on earth they
did it. Because 1 dicdn’t think that the United States would be
able to do sometiing like that. Even 1f wa had the specific
information, [ didn't think we would be able to take all--a

gignificant numbsr of our major gystems off the air. Everything



HWas replaced by cne-time-pad. But when you started analyzing
it, all the systems that they were replaced were as manpower
intensive as one-time-pad would be. So it really gave them not
a heck of a lot of a gproblem. So ! asatisfled myaelf as to why
they could do jt, although it still took quite an effort. i
gueas they did it on Friday--arnd thig is purely and simply a
guess~~-a3o that they ccould quickly analyze how complete it had
been Soviet-wide. and then they had the weekend before Monday to
stralighten out ary post that had fouled up. And there were a
few.

FARLEY: Was it & universal change throughout the Soviet high
commands?

DIBBEN: It wags =« universal change except fore=they kept
callsigns and frequencles. It would have been chaos, probably,
without that. £v you did have T/A carryover. But all indlcator
systemas changed, even on the systema we were not resding. They
enciphered thelir indicators. Indicatoras that had been in the
clear before, they now onﬁlph&fad. 1f they had enciphered them
before, 1t was 3 different system now. As soon as they knew
everyone was all right, bhdy changed their callsaigns and
frequencles as well., So withian a very short time, it was as

complete & communications change as you could almost imagine.

FARLEY: That when they went to

DIBBEN: No, that was later.
EO 3.3b{3)

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

N o
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HIGHBARGER:

DIBBEN: Incidentally, there isn’t absolute proof--]1 don°'t think
there's any doul” in anyone's mind that it was Burgess and
Mclean that got 11 the information. And that led to the
compartmentation of the Soviet problem. Two thingst: Black
Friday led to the compartmentation of the Soviet problem, swhich
then led to other problems; that was the first one
compartmented. The technical aspects also altered the reporting
methods on the fuviet problem. Because since that time, 1 don't
believe an actusl decrypt of a mesaage has ever been produced as
intelligence procuct.

FARLEY: 1Is that verbstim or in reports?

DIBBEN: Verbatirm or in reports or any other way. You never get
a decrypt in a Soviet . . .

FARLEY: How is *he information passed?

DIBBEN: It's paused §in intelligence reporta. Okay? But you
don*t-~-the dacrypt givea yvou the time, the date, the link it's
on and all that infmrmatimn--ali the externals. Plus the
verbatim text. That's all Burgess and Mclean had‘aeceaa to.
FARLEY: Phil, y-u mentioned Burgess and Mclean. 1Is there a
relationeahip to Helabsnd in this situation? Do you know, is

there any tie-in at all?
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DIBBEN: Don't know. It's tied to them because they were here.
They had access to sl! thease decrypta. They weren't in NSAjS
they were in State or CIA--State, ! think.

FARLEY: State, ves.

DIBBEN: State Duopartment. They had access to all this., It
waan't too long theresfter that they took off for the Soviet
Union. All the avidence points to the fact that they were the
oneg. But whethor it was Burgess or Melean or not, it was
absolutely clear that the Soviets had specific information about
which gystems we were reading.

FARLEY: Do you know anything at all about Welsband's modus
operandi?

DIBBEN: I don’t even Know who he ia.

FARLEY: This is the aArmy officer who was charged with passing
secrets to the Soviet Union while he was a civilian here. And
almost immediate'y after he supposedly passed the Information,
came Black Fridavy. He was not prozecuted; he wag sentenced to
one year in jail because he failed to answer a subpoena from a
Judge who was going to discuass this, Apparently, NSA didn‘'t
decide to prosacute because it would open the books and the
gsecrets would be exposned. But you don't--

DIBBEN: No, I don't know the name.

FARLEY: That'as interesting.
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DIBBEN: Actually, it didn’'t particularly worry me at the time
how the information gct out. It was clear that specific
information did get ovt. But ] was interested, as a
cryptanalyst, ir what the Soviets did, how they reacted to it,
how they changed their systems.

HIGHBARCER: [Wexk, ir backgroundl . . . worked on the Soviet
problem, on succesaful systems development, as Phil did, !
always, for whatever reason, | always asaociated it with Burgess
ande-

DIBBEN: Burgess and Folean. That's right. Yeah.

FARLEY: I've talked to people who knew this fellow Welisband and
sald he was a livtle curious sbout goings on in certain of the
Soviet areas. Fe was a very pergonable sort of individual, and
he'd kid along, and then say, "Hell, what are you doing on this
and that svstenm?” And apparently fed it back. I wish I'd
brought his obituary cover here) vou’d probably get a little more
information on him.

DIBBEN: 1’11 be darned. That really caught both Bob and 1 by
surprise--caught us completely by surprise.

FARLEY: Here I <hought | was going to get the whole story.
DIBBEN: (Laughterl Sorry about that.

FARLEY: In vour lecture you alao noted that Black Friday helped
to break their c¢uver, and in trving to trace 1t back the
security people were getting to them, Could you elaborate on

TOP—SECRET UMBRA SENSTTIVEZLINDTS
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what the hunt for the source ertalled? HWere there others
involved? Was--:igain Weisband--was he alone? Did he have
accomplices?

DIBBEN: I simply don't know. VYou know, it was aimply a comment
I made. The Soviets, when they declided to change everything on
one day, a massive change like that, they clearly must have
realized that they were comprosising their source of
information. And they were milling te do tt. But [ wasn't
particularly interested in that azpsct of it, You know, it had
already been taken care of. 1 wasg interested in the technical
developments.

FARLEY: It's interesting that the security files contain very
little informaticn abcut the Weisband cvase. Now whether it's
baen sanitized, I don’t know.

HICHBARGER: What year was this?

FARLEY: In "48. That period.

DIBBEN: Okay. If he had passed the information in °48, 1 would
almost say that the Scviets could not have reacted that fast.
FARLEY: Mavbe h: mas just feeding them plecemeal, and then one
day they decidecd: We have everything we mant to know and=-
DIBBEN: Yeah. BRecause 1t tock them a while to decide what to
do and then lay cut all the plana. They couldn*t do it in a
short period of time, I don't think. Do you, Bob?

FARLEY: Gosh, rco. Tre sheer volume of-~

TFOP—SECRET UMBRA-SENSFTIVRALINDIE.
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HIGHBARGER: Havs you interviewed Lou?

FARLEY: Tordells?

HIGHBARGER: Um-hmm.

FARLEY: For two vears 1've been trying to get to him,
HIGHBARCER: I'm sure he's the one that could--he the most
authotitative~-~-

DIBBEN: That's -ight, because he was sgitting in a poaition
where he wmould know all the detalls of thils.

FARLEY: He'’'s weazkening. 1°11 get him eventually. Phil, let me
read aomething, sgain, I don't know whether it°'s related to the
Black Friday cass. Dave Martin, in his Hilderness of Hirrors.
writes about a Crurchliil to Truman telegram which was
intercepted and cecrypted from the New York-~Moscowm Soviet
diplomatic link that pointed to a high level penetration inside
the British Secret Intelligence Service. According toc Martin,
AFSA’s gearch for the culprit focused on the codename HOMER. Do
you have any idez who HOMER wmas, or any information on the
SIGINT side of this atory?

DIBBEN: No., Th: actual source that they’'re talking about, 1]
wag aware of from a tﬁchniaal gtandpoint. 1 worked on it. But
I didn‘t work on the intelligence ocutput. 1 did work on the
technical: [ helvad on that., A lot of people in NSA--well, 1
guesg in NSA and [DA. The perscn 1 can think of best: Dick
Labler. Dick lLatler worked on it. lLutwinlak certainly worked

TFOPSECRET UNBRA SENSTTIVE/LINDIS
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on it. I workec on it, but 1 worked on the technical aspects of
it. For obvious reascns, the intelligence output was probably
the moat compartrentec product that this agency has ever
produced. And £1il1 isa.

FARLEY: That msles sense. . . . Let me Just read another
simllar incident. Stevenson, in Intrepid’'s Last Case. refers
repeatedly to BFIDE/VANOSA traffic, intercepts as well as
decrypts. He sayvs Kim Philby "uatched the coded BRIDE/VANOSA
traffic for British irtelligence from his Washington post. He
decided Burgess rad better be tranaferred.”™ And he alasoc said
there was a "lorng history of burrowing into the key
bureaucracies of the dest.™ And this was also “available
through BRIDE/VANOEA cryptops.” "“Cryptops"™ is the word he

uses. He also azald that the codename GISEL kept "recurring in
Soviet intelligence traffic lntercepted by BRIDE/VANOSA.™ And
Stevenaon also clalims that John Watkins, a former Canadian
ambagsador to Moucow who died nvasteriocusly in 1964, had Soviet
connections that "were confirmed from™ . . . "the BRIDE/VANOSA
cryptopa.” Do you have any indication or any information at all
on what the systom “BREIDE/VANUOSA™ ia, or do thoase codenames mean
anything?

DIBBEN: No.
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HIGHBARGER: The . . . VANOSA sounds familiar. BRIDE doesn't
ring a bell at &.1. |°'m not sure what VANOSA was. I think it
was a aource, bult I’'m not sure.

DIBBEN: I°'m not sure either.

FARLEY: Doesn't mean a thing?

DIBBEN: Doesn’t mean a thing.

FARLEY: [ think you discussed this already, Phil. I was going
to ask you whethar you recall whether the Wejisband compromise
was limlted to Soviet dip cipher, or were other Soviet cipher
communications involved. You talked about that. You know
anything about hosm the suspects were narrowed and finally the
finger of suapic.on wag pointed at Welsband?

DIBBEN: No.

FARLEY: Hera's one you might hit. Dr. Tordella lectured on

multichannel printers in the 1947-«48 perliod and used the
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DIBBEN: Of cource, 1f they're producing them, they can double-
produce and they can keep a copy and glive a copy cut. [Laughter?
FARLEY: I wouldr't sispect them of doing anything like that.
[Laughter] Fine, upatsnding people.

DIBBEN: I°'d love--oh, find, upstanding people~~]‘d love to be
in a position tc do thrat myself. [Laughter]

FARLEY: We've rncver cone 1%, 1 puess.

{Laughterl

FARLEY: Phil, siter we discovered what héﬂ happened--Black
Friday~~you sald everything went compartmented. Who directed
that the Soviet problem primarily, and some othera, become a
compartmented arca?

DIBBEN: It was “others” after that. As far as I know, it was
only the Soviet rroblem that was compartmented immediately. 1
don't know. It certainly was the director of NSA and deputy
director that ordered it. I don‘t--

HIGHBARGER: AFS.

DIBBEN: Oh, AF:.. 1 don't see that they had to have any
authority cutsidse of that, They shouldn't have had to. They
could have done !t inside. 1 uwasn't aware of thatj; 1 was too
Junior at the tire, but there probably was argument about the
method of reporting. It's of interest to me, aort of
historicaliy, thast no other part of the Agency has ever adopted

that method of reporting.
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FARLEY: Did the users or the consumers, or whatever we used to
call them then, <id they complain about not being provided a
paper copy?

HIGHBARGER: Oh, I'm sure--

DIBBEN: 1I°'m s2ur. they did, but | don't knos=—-

HIGHBARGER: They are still complaining. {Laughter)

DIBBEN: They arw still compla' ning. Yes they do complain, but
on the other har<, there wag a good reason, There probably
8till would be for that kind of infcrmxilmn to get out to a lot
of congumers. |1 personally think it's a good idea for NSA te do
it, for NBA to produce intelligence reports. and not produce a
raeport as a pure decrypt, a decrypt of a2 message. As 3 matter
of fact, a3 far a8 ['m concerned, NSA haz good intelligence
analyats that ara capuble of taking decrypts, taking traffic
analytic informatlon, and melding it together into a good
intelligence report. They’'re better capable of doing that than,
I think, ClA, or DIA. Moat of them take that communicatlons
information and marry it to other sources,

FARLEY: Phil, wius AFSA/NSA compelled to advise the recipients,
or the users of the consumers, that we were having problemg--
having difficulty~-on the Soviet problem?

DIBBEN: Well, suddenly all the intelligence information
digsappeared.

FARLEY: Did we —ave to explalin what happened?

ped
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DIBBEN: [ don't know. ] would suppose we did, but I have no
knowledge of thas.

FARLEY: Probably through USIB or--

DIBBEN: VYeah, ! have nc knowladge of it, but certainly high
level people at State and other agencies would wonder why things
had dried up suddenly. There was a trickling off, because you
were still producing decrypts for a while. But in a relatively
short time inteliligence had to have gone down slgnificantly.
There was & big Jdifference bebtwgen pre~Cctober and post-0October
of *48. We calload it Black Friday. GCHQ called it the
beginning of the seven-year drought, which also glives some
spacific informuazion. It was seven vears before headway was
made again. Tha-'s how complete a change it was.

FARLEY: Jtere pratty stringent measures implemented at that time
to prevent a sirnilar recurrenced that is, of the Soviets belng
provided informuacion <hat thel~ systems were being read, which
would provoke tham to change everything?

DIBBEN: The compartmantation certainly was aimed at that, and
the not producing an actual decrypt as intelligence product
leaving the Agaenny lgs another thing. It put it all within NSA.
The aystems we vare ahle to make headway on stayed largely
within NSA and “1ere within named people.

FARLEY: What waa the relationship with GCHQ on this? They were

reading certaln Soviet systems also, weren't they?
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DIBBEN: We had & very complete relationship with tﬂgﬁ. it
carried on past bYorld War II, and it was aaaqntialiy;tha same aa
it is today, as far as l’'m concerned. It was a v;ryicompltta
relationship. Sume of my earliest memories, or gnauiadge, of
GCHAQ came from the fact that Ignatius ﬂattinglg:andil Ware
working together very early on, when 1 first @éme. j&nd he and I
had done a plece of work that had attracted gitantién‘ And hera
was the GCHQ ligison man, Phil Housae, aittiq; at u%% elbow. It
wag quite a3 closs relationship. Always has'baun. :

FARLEY: Phil, vould you recal. whether there ever:has been a
damage assesament written about Black Frfﬁay? Haﬁk you ever
seen one? ' .

DIBBEN: ['ve never seen one., [“ve ha;ra that~~y§a, it was
done, but I‘'ve roever read it. | éan'g krow who dﬁd it.

FARLEY: You wou.dn't have any idea ﬁhgr& it might be found, or

who would have : cess to it? Could it be in

HIGHBARGER: It wouldn't be in[ |

DIBBEN: 1If there wmas one, my guess would be Lou Tordella would
have had it. Thst would be my guess.

FARLEY: VYou knes: a lot of his old files were inadvertently
destroyed. Somelbody sald, "We need this file drawer. . . .°
DIBBEN: VYou're izidding!?

FARLEY: (Laught«rl That's another story.

HIGHBARGER: I soule think that whoever had it would have [Weak]
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DIBBEN: Back thon it wasn't Lou Tardgilaafﬁii uauquhave been--

HIGHBARGER: But. If i+ were handed-dewn-- I

DIBBEN: Handed down=--  _.-° =" D

HIGHBARGER: I woyld havé thought--whether it be[ . | the

pvudcc;u:@ps’3€ Faula have held a copv. §f it #ara someplace

in[_Jarchives, “hat would be -he other posaibili{y, I would
think. '

FARLEY: It smiould be extremely sensitive thaugh,,;auidn*t it? 1
mean, wWe shouldn’'t have it over in our arnhivsa.j

HIGHBARGER: No. .

.
.

DIBBEN: It would be very senuitive and my zuané would be that
in the period we were originally talking ahout~}uh@n Bob and 1
were here working on the problem-~it would havd been held at thae
directorate level. My guess would be that[:::Pould not have a
copy~~the praedecassors would not have a copy. Because things
like tbat, vary “ew coples are made. Because they are quite
'ravealinx.

FARLEY: Phil, is there anything-~] giving this qguick and dirty
again. Is there anvything abou: Black Friday you'd like to put
on tape-~for the record--that we've glosaed over?

DIBBEN: No. No, I den't think so. To me it was--my interest
in going back and studying it, as 1 said, was the technical
aspecta. How thse Soviets responded to this challenge once they
got--they clear.. got apecific information as to which asystems

TOR SECRET UMBRA SENSITIVE/LINDIS
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we uere reading. And they reasponded to it by a massive
communications cnange. My intsrest was in how they designed
those changes, :.aid the fact that they could do it, would do 1t,
were willing to 30 to that effort. And the technical continuity
that went through the change. That mas my interest in it, and
that pretty well wrapas it up as far as I'm concerned.

FARLEY: Bob, do you have anything to add to that?

HIGHBARGER: No, I don't«~Phil really knows more about it than I
do.

DIBBEN: And spe-ifically because | stuck my nose into it. I
dug out as many reporta as { cosuld find and talked to as many
people aa I could at the time.

FARLEY: Phil, [ have a couple more questions. One on the

Berlin Tunnel astory. 1'11 Just read what somebody researched.

It gsays:

Do you have any thoughts éﬁ

that? And if you remomber anything about it, what was the

intelligence va e of the printer traffic?

OGA

DIBBEN: To beg'n with, an awful lot of it was plalntext.
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HIGHBARGER: A 12t of 1TY.

DIBBEN: VYeah. Plain stop-start printer that never got on the
air in radlo and therefore, they thought, was secure. That was
the wheole idea of the tunnel. The idea of it came originally
from HSA, from Frank Rouwlett., In some of the captured Cerman
documenta, if ] remembar correctly--1 remember Frank telling
this story. He saw this map of Berlin which showed all their
buried telsaphone cable. Looking at the map, here’'s the U.S,
sector and here’s an empty fleld; right there is one of thelir
big trunk lines. (lLaughter] And we've got-<and it’s an empty
field right up to the trunk line. Didn*t have to go through any
basements in the Soviet 2zone or anything else. He suggeated it
to CIlA, and by tha time it was sctually dug, he was in CIA, s0
he [Laughterl, iHe'd put on a different hat by then and was able
to carry it through.

FARLEY: So ClA would have been aware of it then, since he had
gaeen 1t from the NSA polint of view and then moved to CIA.
DIBBEN: You bettar believe they nould have., The main
intelligence cams out =f the plaintext printer. 1 guess it'as an
impresslon of mine; I have been jinvolved and interested in
electromechanlical , elecstrliec and electronic equipment
radlating--the mignetis flelds assoclated with electrical
asguipnent on. 1 have deen interested in all my eafﬁar. I guess

it’s almost {an] admisazion that | think that we Were always one



step behind the foviets. We needed information from them more
than they needed it from usa.

FARLEY: There wss one period in there when they managed to jump
ahead of us.

DIBBEN: More thun one period.

FARLEY: Agaln, ‘he intelligence derived from the tunnel
operation~~the RIGAL cperation--what were some of the most
significant SIGCINT cortributiconsz. You say mogt of it was
plaintext. Was there ever any enciphered material passed?
DIBBEN: Oh, yeal, there was clipher traffic in there as well.
Well again, particularly during that pericd, ! was not involved
with the intelligence output. . . . A graat percentage of the
cipher traffic wis avallable to us on the alr. Not all of it.
{Weak background discussion between Bob Highbarger and 8ob
Farleyl

FARLEY: I remember we used to haul three and four mallbags back
from Berlin, take turre pulling courier out to Berlin and back
to Frankfurt., hauling that material back.

FARLEY: Bob, wa: all the processing done at ASAE, or was some
of the material sent back to-e

HIGHBARGER: [ tlink it muat all have been sent back here, but
-

DIBBEN: It was rent tack here. The analysis of it, from an
intelligence stardpoirt, took place on the--at least part of

TOP SECRET UMBRA-SENSITIVEALAIMDIE-
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it--took place ¢ the third floor of one of the barracks
buildings. 1t s»us while this building was under construction.
Carrie Berry couid give you some information on that.
HICHBARGER: I tnink Hilil Payton could 5130 give you some
information on this, hecause-~. saw this recently, within the
last three or four yesrs-~something about CIA and the . . . 1
talked to Bill soour it, ’cause 1 believe he was involved in the
proceasging of trh:t material here.

FARLEY: Okay. Uid ClA have an operation in Temporary Building
32 down on the Mall where they helped process?

DIBBEN: | have 1o idea.

FARLEY: Did vou ever hear of that?

DIBBEN: No.

FARLEY: | was c:ricus whether we volunteered any help down
there, gavae CIA--

HIGHBARGER: My inowledge was strictly during the period ue were
in Frankfurt, ard before that--i%t was all over, fortunately, by
the time 1 got biuack here.

DIBBEN: My know edge was that I happened to work on the~~Peter
Jenks and 1 were working together at that time, and we worked on
the third filoor .t the barracks bullding. If their output was
cipher, we would get the cutput. So we knew where it was coming
from.

FARLEY: It was very tightly held--
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DIBBEN: Oh, it i.as very tightly held. Yeah.

FARLEY: Maybe i¢ I get Frank Foslett aside; he's coming to the
Phoenix Socliety dinner tonight. Maybe ! can Jjust get him aside,
and he may stop bty over here next week, 80 we can question him
in detall on that.

DIBBEN: Yeah. “ell him I tolc you. [Laughter)

FARLEY: Bob, anvthing else on the tunnel operatlion we should
put down?

HIGHBARGER: No.

DIBBEN: As far 53 ['m concerned, it was a pure intelligence
operation, that we really didn't get anything of eryptanalytioc
value out of it.

FARLEY: It was successful while it lasted.

DIBBEN: Yup, yuy, it was a nice coup. There is ancother story
that 1 wmas told sbout the tunnel when it was first being built,
and I think it wes Frank Rowlett that told this story. It could
have been someont else, but { think it was Frank Rowlett
who«=it s an interesting war story. The tunnel was thered it
wag operational. Overnight they had a very early snowfall that
Just dusted the rround--except for the path [of the tunnell.
And the heat melred it. Soviet soldlers over there were
actually polinting it cut, but by the time any senlior people who
looked there, the sun ®as out and melted all the snow. We

transhipped-~in &« hurry--air-conditioning equipment.
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FARLEY: Or insuiation.

DIBBEN: (Laughterd Beth. ['m pretty sure Frank Rowlett was the
one that told that war story. . . . And the other nas'tha WaY
we lost the tunnel, which was s pure accident., Very heavy
ralns, and we weren’'t able to pump th@ cable tunnel dry on the
Soviet-~ HWe coulid pump our owr tunnel dry, but where the cables
were, we were trving desperately to pump it ocut, and Jjust
couldn*t keep up with it. Everything shorted out.

FARLEY: They care to sheck it and find ocut what happened.
DIBBEN: Yeah. “here the tunnel was. It was sort of a shame
that we didn"t have bigger pumps. I was told that we
drasticalily overbought for our oun tunnel, but not theira.
FARLEY: I just tave s couple more, and then 1'11 leave vou. We
should be finished in fifteen, twenty minutes, unless you want
to talk longer. EGGSHELL and the TACKSMAN zites. In the late
19508 CIA operated the twoe altesa, asn you know. One at Kabkan
and the other at Behatahr, to collect signals from Tyuratam.
Could you discusg: the history of the EﬁGSHELL sitea? Could you
racall anything sbout them?

DIBBEN: No, I can't. Don't know. I really--do you know the
history of those tuwo gites, TACKSMAN and ECCGSHELL?

HIGHBARGER: No, sorry.

DIBBEN: 1 certainly knew about it; | got information from them.

36



Philip Dibben Oral History Interview

FARLEY: Was it s ClA-generated operation, or was it a combined
HSA~CIA operation?

DIBBEN: It was combined, and !t°‘s entirely possible-~I would
look into the pousibility of it--~the idea being generated from
NSA.

HIGHBARGER: There's two other pesople that can answer, because
. « . don’t go back that far. . . I assume it was just in the
normal course of-they ran--Clk ran almogt 3ll of the covert
sites~~

DIBBEN: Covert or guasi-covert sites. My assumption would be
that the main idsa for the site would have come from NSA. But
because of the p<licy at the time, CIA would have run 1t, would
have been resporszible for the site. That's purely an
asaumption.

FARLEY: You saw some of the information provided from the
sites. How useful was it?

DIBBEN: A lot ¢t it wmas sort of unique. We couldn't get the
intercept anyﬁkaco alue, at the time.

FARLEY: This al: orn the missi.e launches and the testing?
DIBBEN: Largely. but there was also a lot of mllitary traffle
from that same purt of the Seviet Unlon that was not readily
available, the | tercept was not readlly avallable from other

sites.

37



Philip Dibben arlmw

FARLEY: Was it directed prima~ily against TTMTR or also against
KYMTR or Vladimirovka and all the othersa?

HIGCHBARGER: [ <aink (t was moatly what vou could see with line
of sight . . .

DIBBEN: Yeah, s Viadimirovka wouldn't have been part of 1it.
FARLEY: 1 guesn that's too fa~ away.

DIBBEN: Yeaah, that's too far away.

HIGHBARCER: . . , claar view of the trajectory.

DIBBEN: . . . a good part of the powered flight, which was
important. Until overhead came arocund, it wa=z unique; it gave
abgsolutely uniqua stulf.

FARLEY: All the telemebry we needed, 1 pguessa.

DIBBEN: 1I'm sur= of “hat, and a lot of cipher traffic as well.
Bob?

HIGHBARCER: [ doubt (t was all we needed.

DIBBEN: No.

FARLEY: You mentioned the word unlgue. Did ECGSHELL provide

any unigue

Ware
we lueky enough toe plok up soms of that?
DIBBEN: Do you-~
HIGHBARGER: ([Waak]l | don’t know where it was . . . doesn’t

ring a bel}l with me.

FARLEY: WR -
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DIBBEN: Oh, EGOSHELL LAYl three talking at once herel

FARLEY: [ don't eithar, Bob.

DIBBEN: Isn't that o1e of the Turkey sites? Or was it an
iranian aite?

FARLEY: Iranian.

DIBBEN: Irania); yean, Iranian. Here again, people more
closely inveolved with the actual intelligence output are better
able to answer tninga like this, but ! do know that the close-in
intercept sites wers oaxtremely important for the early
enciphered speacn intercept. It uwas very definitely a crypt
problem. So all of the close-in intercept sites were important
there.

FARLEY: Good. 3ob, usne site, Kabkan, was on the Soviet border,
the other was a’ Behshahr, on the Casplan Sea near Tehran, to
collect Soviet asignals from Tyuratam--

DIBBEN: Right <1 the Casplani it waz looking right straight
across the water. 5So you got ground wave across the water.
FARLEY: 1 remevber thati; 1 think ] wsmas inadvertently exposaed to
that, and 1 dropped the codenane EGGSHELL to Zaslow, and he said
{Broken up by Dinben's laughter)

DIBBEN: He becane a alx~footer?

FARLEY: {Laughtarl Jid you hear that, Phil? It was Just a
briefing I went o dountown or gsomething. Phil, in your lecture

in '83, vou tal ad absut Preasident Nixon telling Khruachev that,
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"We're reading :1ome of the Soviet systems.™ On the tape, it's.

obliterated or it's insudible. [Much laughter]

DIBBEN:

He did-~

HIGHBARGER: In

the kitchen debate?

DIBBEN: Yeah, in the kitchen debate, he just blew the fact that

we were

reading

And he blew it wide open.

FARLEY: What syatem ia that?

FARLEY: Oh gad. When did we find out about that? HWhen the
Soviete changed the svstem agaln?

DIBBEN: Oh no. It was on television. f{[Laughter]l That--~1t was

televised worldulde.

FARLEY:
DIBBEN:
comment
FARLEY:
DIBBEN:

taeaeth.

With trhe people a3t NSA pulling their hair.

Yesah, Lou Tordella can-~if you ever get him,

on that.
Lost hi

Yeah.

] *viz heard him on that.

3 cool, did he?

why, he'll

Ine of the few times that lLou Tordella grits his
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FARLEY: He had cvery right tec. o ::
DIBBEN: Yeah. o Lo

FARLEY: Can we trace any raau}tapé Soviet action as a result of

that disclosure, revelation?

DIBBEN: Oh, veal . Trey toqk'tham off the fankaa immediately.

Now, I think this ' was. something that

they would have cone e¢ventually anvhow. :k ﬂoékd be a logical
development. I guess 1 was mildiy sarpriéed a% the time, and
icoking back on it 1 gtill am. They didn?t haée fully
mechanized communrications there anyhou. kt tbé time they
didn't, but they very rapldly changed ovér Lo ﬁhem, It wasn't a

one~day thing. but it was certainly a pfograssﬁon following

that. lasted in other parts of

the Soviet Unior for cuite some time, again, itzwaan’t Loo long
before all of them hac disappeared and been rapiacud* How long
they would have contirued without that revalati&n by then Vice
Preaident Nixon, ! have no idea. As [ say, 1 tﬁink it was a

logical progression that they dbe replaced by a éuah more

avtomated aystenm, But how long it

would have taker the foviets to do it smithout that is anybody‘g~-
a guess. You krow, it could have been a long time.
FARLEY: Anythiry more on that, Phil, that we should record?

DIBBEN: No.
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FARLEY: Let me lust l:ounce back, agaln, to this--Fd Wiley wrote
this. Agaln, in part of your lecture. You mentioned a Soviet
code clerk who dufected to Australia in the early 1950s, but you
don't mention Gouuzenk:, the Soviet code clerk who defected to
Canada in 1945. Did vou have any association or knowledge of
the Gouzenko affalr?

DIBBEN®: Yes, I was avare--!'d read reports, debriefing things
on Couzenko. But if ! remember correctly, it was really not a
great deal of information. Not cryptanalytlce.

FARLEY: %o, ! guess not. This is from Intrapid*s book. It
sayg a Rusgsian cipher clerk, Jlgor Gouzenko, defected to Ottawa
in September of '48. The Soviet Union pressed the Canadian
government to recurn him. Stephenson took over, hiding Gouzenkao
from . . . a group of KGB thugs who would have killed him. The
Canadian prime minister, MacKenzie King, was anxious to avoid
offending Russia and initially wanted to surrender Gouzenko. A
subsequent inquiry by a Royval Coomission exposed Soviet
esplonage within the 17.5., Canadian and British atomic

projects. So, vou were aware of that defectlion too, 1 guess.
DIBBEN: Yeah, | waa asware of that but, you know, from my
standpoint, it didn"t give me a heck of a lot--as a
ceryptanalyst. He was not a good source. The fellow from

Australia was.
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FARLEY: Oh, so vou ware able to submlt questions to be asked by
the interragator of this individual?
DIBBEN: Through GCHQ. Tha-~oh, 1 have forgotten the fellow's
name. Little redheadnd Scotsman-~Englishman. ©Oh, darn. Yeah,
he died. Anyhou, he «as the one that--in reading the debriefing
on thia fellow, he's the one that plcked up the bit of
information, almist a contradictory thing-«the debriefers
reported it as h2 had a tour of the Soviet-~by a tour, yvou know,
a walk-through -f the Soviet key-generation~-their COMSEC, where
they generated ill chaelr keys. And it should have been “tour™
in the working zonse ¥ the word, not walk-through aense of the
word., But he picked aop the fact that he remembered the
technical desigrator of a tube that was used, a gas tube that
was used. And he aaid, "1f you walk through it, how in hell
did he remember <that vears later? [Laughter]
FARLEY: Some trhings just stick in the mind.
DIBBEN: It turrad out he actually worked in that Soviet key-
generation factory., And we were able to submlt questions
through GCHA on that one.
FARLEY: Phil, that exhausts my liast of questionsa. I don*t
know--ig there savthing else that we should put on tape? Bob?
HIGHBARGER: ¥No.
DIBBEN: I don*t think so. [I°'m interested to know that

someplace that talk ! pave exiats.



FARLEY: Part of it has been transcribed. Again, Ed Wiley had
it transcribed. What 1 want to do later on ia interview vou in
detall. Again, it's been quick and dirty, as 1 said four or
five times. But get into the specifice and a little more on
your career, a !lttle more on things that should be on the
record. | have found that a lot of the reports that are written
are uritten for consumption by people who really don't care. 1
ask people whom I’ve interviewed: What really happened behind
this report? Can vou tell me the true story? And it's amaxzing
how contradicticnas come out. Or supplementary information comes
out. They say, “] w@asz coerced into writing that report that
way, but classified so-and-so. It’s good to get behind~the-
sceanes informat!oan,

DIBREN: | think it'a certalinly true of me. It’s true probably
of most of the LSA technlcal pecople, 1s that we were not very
good at reporting cur technicsl accomplishments. We aimply
didn*t put it down in detall. WHe reported it to people that
could understani-«that knew what we were doing and therefore
could understand a on@~paragriph report as to an
accomplishment. And an sutsicer--someone coming in--would have
no idea what we were talking sbout.

FARLEY: It sur:¢ comes througl now, when you read some of these

old reports.
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DIBBEN: Yeah, but those things were written for the consumption
of people that had the complets background on what we were
doing. They alrasady knew tha%t, and we didn’t give it again.
Ne'd write just 4 very short description of a technical
devalopment.

FARLEY: Well, ! think it was all a short-term, rather than a
long~term, writ.ng fo~ historvy.

DIBBEN: Yes, a lot of it was short-term, and also a fact that
on the Soviet praoblam--~1 think much more than other parts of the
~Agency~~there w:~e more one-man tour de forces. 1t wasa a group
effort. It was a fai-ly large number of people that combined on
a technical development, or on a bhreakthrough. Don't you think
that’s true, Bo:? It wasn't 3 one~man-~none of them were
one-man things.

HIGHBARCER: Yeah, that's true.

DIBBEN: That's probably another reason why no one person sat
down and wrote them up. Because it wasn't that individual’s
work. He wasgs reporting some of his own ideas, but a whole lot
of other people’a accomplishments as well.

FARLEY: 1 guesa that’'s true.

DIBRBREN: Theref: re, n» one ever did it. Probably a shame.
FARLEY: Sure i1. Sure {s, especlally when we're trying to
write the history, in some detall, of NSA. And there are a lot

of gaps, many gaps, and the pecple-~
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HICHRBARGER: I1'm glad we're doing it.

DIBBEN: 1I°'m glai somaone's trying to do it. 1 agree. But

.
:

don’t you agres “hat "z probably the reason?

.

.

HIGHBARGER: Vaan, that certainly--
DIBBEN: It certalnly contributes to it. Part of it--
HIGHBARGER: You find somebody that cowuyld de/&t, you didn‘t want

to take him ama what he's doing. .

.
.

DIBBEN: That's ~ight, in order to do it. .

HIGHBARGER: Not evirybody could write 1h1f 1 mean, you have to
have a pratty g d unilerstanding of the @;chnieal--a very good
understanding 11 moat cases. So it uaaﬁ;

DIBBEN: Yeah. dJhen [ was chief [ | tried to have that
done on one proklem. I didn't take some~-1it just happened that
a persaon Mas consenient that keew quite a bit of the history of
one of the probimms. And sc I said, "Okay, for the next six
montha yvou have 1cthing else to de. NWrite ua a history.”™ And
it was not a go:d higtory.

FARLEY: I can ta2lieva that.

DIBBEN: 1t was not a good one. | wouldn't publish ft. I
wouldn't have i~ published. [ don't want to mention any names.
1 did that and i: was not a--! was disappointed. He was
digappointed thit 1 wouldn't publish {t.

FARLEY: Ia it 2+i11 around?

DIBBEN: 1 did rn»t deatroy the draft.
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FARLEY: Becauss we'l. take anything. .-~

DIBBEN: It stilil could be in me:ﬁms‘ 1"11 tell Bob what
it was later, asd4 let him., . . .

FARLEY: Bob, 1 want to interview you sometime, at your leisure,
about your illustrious career. The good old days, too.
HICHBARCER: Sura.

FARLEY: I'm cutting into your lunch hour. Phil and Bob, thank
you so much for vour time. It'zs been worthwhile, and we'll
transcribe this and eventually give vou a copy.

DIBBEN: Okay, 31d seo how it ccmes out.

FARLEY: Howm should we clagsify it?

DIBBEN: This should be Category Three, Top Secret Codeword.
FARLEY: Top Se:ret Codewordi sc we'll control it that way. And
1°11 give vyou trat accessibility form.

DIBBEN: COkay.

FARLEY: Thanka agsain. Philip. Robert.
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